The Drug Toxicity Crisis

Summary of environmental scan findings to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs

Public Health Sudbury & Districts November 2023



Authors

Lesley Andrade, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Chanelle Larocque, Public Health Sudbury & Districts John Macdonald, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Nastassia McNair Public Health Sudbury & Districts

Contributors

The authors would like to recognize the contributions and provision of reference material by many partners in the development of the full report, *The Drug Toxicity Crisis: An environmental scan to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs*. Contributors include: Stephanie Commisso, Tracey Zurich, and staff from the Shared Library Services Partnership; Karla Ghartey, Professor, Nursing & Emergency Services at Cambrian College of Applied Arts and Technology; Dr. Pamela Leece and Public Health Ontario colleagues; Public Health Sudbury & Districts' Mental Health and Substance Use Team, Health Equity Team, Population Health Assessment and Surveillance Team, and select Health Promotion Division colleagues; and Roxanne Zuck of Monarch Recovery Services. Thank you also to Greater Sudbury Paramedic Services for providing custom local data and to Public Health Ontario and the Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario for providing data sources used in the report.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Stacey Gilbeau, Sandra Laclé, Sherry Price, Renée St Onge, and Dr. Penny Sutcliffe for their valuable feedback on this report. Thank you also to Laura Young for her careful review of this report, and to Chantal Larochelle for its formatting.

Contact for More Information

Knowledge & Strategic Services Public Health Sudbury & Districts 1300 Paris Street Sudbury, ON P3E 3A3 Telephone: 705.522.9200, ext.350 Email: resourcecentre@phsd.ca

This report is available online at www.phsd.ca. Ce rapport sera disponible en français une fois que la traduction sera reçue.

Citation

Public Health Sudbury & Districts. (2023). *The Drug Toxicity Crisis: Summary of environmental scan findings to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs*. Sudbury, ON: Author.

Copyright

This resource may be reproduced, for educational purposes, on the condition that full credit is given to the Public Health Sudbury & Districts. This resource may not be reproduced or used for revenue generation purposes.

© Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023

Contents

Introduction	1
Factors associated with drug use and toxicity	2
Individual demographic considerations	2
Race and ethnicity	2
Age and sex or gender	3
Employment and history of incarceration	4
Mental health status	4
Societal considerations	5
Housing, homelessness, and poverty	5
A contaminated drug supply	6
A changing landscape of drug use	6
Structural and systemic considerations	6
Government laws and policies	6
Criminalization	7
Stigma and discrimination	7
Best practices to address concerns	8
Treatment best practices	8
Opioid agonist therapy	8
Mental health supports	9
Harm reduction best practices	9
Laws and policy-related initiatives	9
Supervised consumption sites	10
Drug checking services	11
Naloxone	11
Outreach and wraparound services	11
Systemic change and collective action	12
Upstream prevention and protective factors	12
Coordinated and collective community action	13

Available services and supports	14
Treatment services	14
Opioid agonist therapy	14
Residential treatment services	14
Indigenous treatment services	15
Harm reduction services	15
Supervised consumption sites	15
Education and distribution of naloxone kits	16
Outreach and wraparound services	16
Upstream prevention services	17
Healthy communities approach	17
Mental health literacy and education	17
A growing demand and gaps in services	18
Conclusion	20
References	21

Introduction

Northern Ontario has been and continues to be disproportionately impacted by the escalating drug toxicity crisis. Per capita, the opioid toxicity death rate is more than 3 times higher than the rest of Ontario.

Findings from local and provincial data, the best available literature, and a scan of local services were compiled to provide a snapshot of the current drug toxicity problem in Sudbury and surrounding area as well as potential strategies to address escalating mortality and morbidity due to this crisis. This report summarizes the key findings of the full report: *The Drug Toxicity Crisis: An environmental scan to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs.* The summary report is intended to inform and guide the deliberations of local leaders and all participants of the City of Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs, December 7–8, 2023. For a thorough and fulsome discussion of the available evidence, including statistics, readers are encouraged to refer to the comprehensive Environmental Scan.

Focusing specifically on the impacts of the opioid or toxic drug crisis in Sudbury and districts, available data indicates elevated and rising numbers of deaths. The number of opioid-related deaths increased dramatically, from 17 deaths in 2016 to 112 deaths in 2022. This represents an increase of 559% over 6 years (OAHPP, 2023a; Office of the Coroner of Ontario, 2023). Between 2020 and 2022, opioid-related death rates in Greater Sudbury and all Northern Ontario communities were the highest of any region in the province.

Each death from acute drug toxicity is a tragedy and is an immediate and impactful insight into the local crisis. Illness (morbidity) data—such as the number of City of Greater Sudbury EMS calls for suspected opioid incidents and the proportion of suspected opioid-related incidents in which EMS transported the patient to a hospital—also contributes to understanding the local situation of increasing drug use and toxicity and helps to contextualize the crisis.

Illnesses and deaths caused by acute drug toxicity are devastating to the family and friends of people who use drugs and are upsetting and damaging to the social and ethical fabric of our community. The drug toxicity crisis is a complex whole-of-society challenge that requires a collaborative and comprehensive response and collective action by the community, people with lived and living experience, and stakeholders across all sectors.

Factors associated with drug use and toxicity

Research evidence and community context highlight a multitude of factors that contribute to drug use and the harms associated with drug toxicity. Each person's holistic sense of health and life—whether they consume legal or illicit substances—is unique. An individual's race or ethnicity, sex or gender, sexual orientation, history of and exposure to violence, trauma, and abuse, or where they were born are all inextricably connected factors.

While each person is unique, there are patterns and factors known to protect against or contribute to the likelihood of drug use. The following highlights the most important overarching and unique factors associated with drug use that are relevant to our geographic region. Overall, these factors either fall within individual demographic or societal and structural considerations.

Individual demographic considerations

Race and ethnicity

Racialized populations including Black, Indigenous, and People of Colour (BIPOC) across Ontario face disproportionately high rates of poisonings and death due to drug toxicity (Friesen et al., 2021; COO & ODPRN, 2021; Sapoznikow, 2022; Sansone et al., 2022).

Locally, within the Public Health Sudbury & Districts service area (inclusive of 13 First Nation communities), 13.9% of the population identifies as Indigenous; a rate that is almost 5 times as high as the provincial rate of 2.9% (Statistics Canada, 2023). Indigenous Peoples are at an increased risk of experiencing acute drug toxicity deaths due to the structural impacts of colonization, intergenerational trauma, poverty, child apprehension, and the ongoing systematic racism experienced today (Health Canada, 2023e; ODPRN & PHO, 2023; COO & ODPRN, 2021; Friesen et al., 2021; Lavalley et al., 2018; Lavalley et al., 2020; Wendt et al., 2021; Maar et al., 2022; Thumath et al., 2021; Sansone et al., 2022). Data demonstrates that, in Ontario, the rate of opioid-related mortality is four times higher for Indigenous Peoples compared to the general population (COO & ODPRN, 2021). In addition, Indigenous Peoples experience lengthy wait times and a lack of post-treatment supports when accessing culturally safe treatment and health care options (Lavalley et al., 2020).

Greater Sudbury is also experiencing a change in local demographics, with growth in newcomer populations, including Black and visible minorities. According to the most recent Statistics

Canada census, visible minorities make up a larger proportion of the total population in Greater Sudbury (e.g., 3.8% in 2016 to 6.6% in 2021) (Statistics Canada, 2023). Similar increases during this time period were also reported for individuals from South Asian and Black ethnicities. (Statistics Canada, 2023). Research shows that like Canada's Indigenous communities, racialized communities (particularly from the United States) face similar drug toxicity mortality rates and substance use related experiences (Sapoznikow, 2022).

The unique demographic considerations of racialized populations including Black, Indigenous, and People of Colour must be further examined when reviewing factors associated with drug use and toxicity. Despite unjust treatments and experiences, many individuals and communities possess assets that can and should be built upon.

Age and sex or gender

Age and sex are highly correlated with local opioid-related deaths. Between 2020 and 2022, the 25 to 44 age group had the highest proportion of opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts, accounting for 60% of deaths, followed by the 45 to 64 age group at 29.6% (OAHPP, 2023b). Males 25 to 44 years accounted for 45.6% of all opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts, compared to 14.4% of females of the same age range (OAHPP, 2023b).

Compared to pre-pandemic periods, a slight increase in drug toxicity in Ontario was also observed among females 25 to 44 years between March 2020 and December 2021 (Gomes et al., 2023). Women who use drugs and gender-diverse persons have been disproportionately and uniquely impacted by socio-structural barriers and social determinants of health related to the unregulated and toxic drug supply (PHO, 2022).

During the pandemic, Ontario also experienced an increase in acute drug toxicity events and emergency department visits among youth (aged 15 to 24) exacerbated by non-prescription opioids (Iacono et al., 2023; Russell et al., 2019). Trend data between 2014 and 2021 suggests that opioid toxicity emergency department visit rates more than quadrupled and deaths tripled among adolescents and young adults (Iacono et al., 2023). Between 2020 and 2022, close to 1 in 10 youths (8.7%) aged 15 to 24 lost their life due to an accidental opioid-related death in the Sudbury and districts area (OAHPP, 2023b). From 2021 to 2023 (year to date), 10.2% of youth aged 15 to 24 experienced a suspected opioid-related incident that required attendance by the City of Greater Sudbury's Emergency Medical Services (EMS) (CGS, 2023)).

Major risk factors (CDC, 2022b; Health Canada, 2023e) for substance use among youth, include:

- family history of substance use and parental substance use
- poor parental monitoring and favourable attitudes towards substance use, poor parental and family relationships, and association with peers who use substances
- lack of school connectedness and low academic achievement

- family rejection of sexual orientation or gender identity
- childhood sexual abuse

Employment and history of incarceration

While evidence clearly demonstrates poverty as a key factor for illicit drug use, deaths due to acute drug toxicity are high amongst those working in lucrative careers such as mining, forestry, and the trades (Statistics Canada, 2021). For example, one-third of acute drug toxicity deaths in Ontario involve individuals employed within the construction industry (Gomes et al., 2021). In many instances, these occupations are also male dominated.

The North American Industry Classification System states that in Ontario in 2017, 8.4 % of individuals worked in mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction, 0.7% worked in utilities, 7.8% worked in construction, and 4.4% worked in transportation and warehousing (Statistics Canada, 2023). In comparison, based on the National Occupational Classification from 2021, 19% of individuals worked in the trades, transport, equipment operators and related occupations, 5.2% worked in natural resources, agriculture, and related production occupations, and 2.5% worked in occupations in manufacturing and utilities across the Public Health Sudbury & Districts area (Statistics Canada, 2023).

People who have a history of incarceration are also at increased risk of acute drug toxicity deaths, drug-related harms, and risks such as injury, illness, and emergency room visits (Butler et al., 2023; Friesen et al., 2021; van Draanen et al., 2020; Jalali et al., 2020; Gan et al., 2019; Gan et al., 2020; Kinner at al., 2021; Groot et al., 2016). Data suggests that 15.6% of all acute drug toxicity deaths were experienced by people with a history of incarceration within the past year (Butler et al., 2023), and that most deaths occurred *more than 2 weeks* post release while non-fatal drug toxicity events occurred within the first 2 weeks of community integration (Kinner et al., 2021).

Mental health status

Inextricably linked to any meaningful conversation about addictions is the acknowledgement and impact of an individual's mental health status and the availability and access to mental health supports. Based on the 2019 and 2020 Canadian Community Health Survey data, 10.6% of Public Health Sudbury & Districts residents perceived their mental health as fair or poor compared to 9.8% of Ontario residents (Statistics Canada, 2022). Despite this data, there are no statistically significant differences between area residents and Ontario.

Most available evidence demonstrates a strong relationship between individuals who have died from acute drug toxicity and prior known diagnoses of psychotic disorders and trauma- or stressor-related disorders (Gomes et al., 2022a). Among Ontarians experiencing homelessness,

more than 90% of people who died of an opioid-related poisoning had visited a health care provider for a mental health-related reason in the 5 years prior to their death (Gomes et al., 2022a).

Societal considerations

Housing, homelessness, and poverty

According to the 2021 census, 10% of the population of Greater Sudbury were living in poverty (as defined by the Low-Income Measure, after tax) in 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2023). Note that this proportion was reduced by the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB), provided by the Government of Canada beginning March 15, 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2023).

Also, a local, 2018 point-in-time count reported 1954 individuals who identified as either absolutely homeless, hidden homeless, or at-risk of homelessness; an additional 224 were dependent children under the age of 18, of whom participants had custody (Kauppi et al., 2018). Some of the top reasons reported in the point-in-time count were substance use disorders along with job loss, inability to pay rent or mortgage, and unsafe housing conditions (Kauppi et al., 2018). In addition, there was a 5-year wait time in 2020 for a one-bedroom subsidized unit in Greater Sudbury, and a wait list of over 1000 residents for rent geared-to-income housing (City of Greater Sudbury, 2020). The availability of safe, affordable, and adequate housing is a significant consideration for illicit drug consumption, which was exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

One in 7 deaths due to acute drug toxicity in Ontario was experienced by an individual in a shelter, supportive housing, or hotel provided as emergency settings for people experiencing housing instability or homelessness during the pandemic (Gomes et al., 2021; Friesen et al., 2021). According to a report from the Northern Policy Institute, in 2021 66% of individuals experiencing homelessness in the Greater Sudbury area reported struggling with their mental health and 80% struggled with addictions (NPI, 2022). In the Manitoulin-Sudbury area, rates were 72% and 44% for mental health and addictions, respectively (NPI, 2022).

Moreover, people who use substances while experiencing homelessness endure overlapping systemic barriers, including challenges accessing appropriate care, housing, and food and the impacts related to stigma (Magwood et al., 2020; CAMH, 2021a; Milaney et al., 2021; Bolinski et al., 2022; Bragazzi, 2021). It is important, however, to note that not all individuals living with low-income levels are experiencing homelessness. Data demonstrates that individuals who live with low incomes are more likely to die of an opioid-related poisoning and are 5 times more likely to visit the emergency department (Alsabbagh et al., 2022).

A contaminated drug supply

Officials are aware that the current drug supply is often adulterated with other substances, of known and unknown potency, in efforts to increase bulk and enhance effects for greater profits. As a result, the unregulated and contaminated drug supply presents great risks and harms to people who use drugs, their families, and communities (PHAC, 2023), the greatest of which includes accidental poisonings and deaths (CCSA, 2020). The unregulated market also impedes local, provincial, and national governments from implementing appropriate responses (ODPRN & PHO, 2023; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023; CCSA, 2020; CCSA & CCENDU, 2020; Réseau ACCESS Network, 2022).

A changing landscape of drug use

Intentional or unintentional polysubstance use, or the use of other substances in addition to opioids, may be a contributing factor to rising fatalities in Canada (ODPRN & PHO, 2023; Konefal et al., 2022). The increasing prevalence of the inhalation of substances via pipe and foil also contributes to the changing landscape of drug use (Gomes et al., 2021; Giliauskas, 2022; PHAC, 2023, Friesen et al., 2021; CFMS, 2022; PHO, 2023; Speed et al., 2020).

Structural and systemic considerations

Government laws and policies

The origins of the current *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (1996) are thought to be rooted in moral panic and racism and are said to contribute to the present-day toxic drug crisis (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019).

Between 1908 and 1960, Canada's first narcotics law, the *Opium Act* of 1908, was renamed and amended many times and led to prohibiting the sale and possession of narcotics such as morphine, opium, cocaine, and eucaine. Associated penalties were increased for related convictions, possession and use were criminalized, and law enforcement was granted broader authority to investigate suspected violations (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019; Owusu-Bempah & Luscombe, 2021; MacKay, 2018). Unfortunately, unanticipated consequences of these actions were the smuggling of banned opioids and adulteration of the drug supply with substances such as heroin, morphine, and codeine (Boyd & Norton, 2019; Montigy, 2011).

Between 1961 and 1996, the Canadian government continued to enact illicit drug-related policies and initiatives. Of particular importance was Health Canada's approval of controlled-release oxycodone (OxyContin) in 1996 to treat moderate pain. For people who use drugs, prescription opioids such as OxyContin were most common (Fischer & Keates, 2012). Approval was

rescinded, and OxyContin delisted as an approved prescription opioid in Canada in 2012. The delisting, unfortunately, did not correspond with a reduction in use, but a move to heroin and then fentanyl, a more potent and easily concealed opioid. Tragically, targeting one drug of choice for prohibition was not as effective as hoped, and the toxic drug crisis emerged in the aftermath of those decisions (Fischer et al., 2015).

Criminalization

In the early 1970s, it was recognized that the criminalization of substances was counterproductive to its purpose and resulted in more harm than the harms from the substances themselves (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019; BCCSU, 2019). Furthermore, these harms, which included social stigma, were disproportionately experienced by equity-deserving groups including Black and Indigenous Peoples (CAMH, 2021b).

Stigma and discrimination

People who use drugs experience stigma at multiple levels, including self-stigma, social stigma, and structural stigma (Livingston, 2020, p.4; Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019). Evidence suggests that such stigma and discrimination impact the likelihood that people who use drugs will seek health and social related services and supports (PHO, 2020; BCCSU, 2022; CAPUD, 2019; Pauly et al., 2017; Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019). These harms are exacerbated when they are experienced at the intersection of other forms of discrimination and oppression such as racism, sexism, classism, and homophobia (Pauly et al., 2017; Livingston, 2020).

Best practices to address concerns

While various approaches and strategies to address substance use have saved lives, there continues to be high levels of acute drug toxicity deaths and poisonings in Ontario with an overrepresentation of marginalized populations (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019). Approaches often characterized by service providers working in isolation, the gaps and barriers to accessing services, and the limited capacity to adapt the availability of services to treat each person as a unique individual, are all factors understood to contribute to the mortality and morbidity our community is experiencing from drug toxicity.

The best practices presented in the Environmental Scan highlight a range of preventative measures, innovative strategies, and adaptative solutions that can help mitigate the harms and risks related to drug use and drug toxicity. Health agencies, individuals with lived experience, families, communities, drug policy advisors, and academics unanimously call for an interdisciplinary-based approach of wraparound services to adequately address substance use.

Treatment best practices

Opioid agonist therapy

Compared to abstinence-based substance use treatment practices that were standard prior to the late 1980s, opioid agonist therapy (OAT)—providing controlled doses of opioid agonists to patients—continues to be one of the gold standard treatment interventions.

Opioid agonist therapy, including supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment (siOAT), has the ability to decrease risk behaviours, criminal activity, and exposure to the toxic drug supply (PHO, 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Magwood et al., 2020). Opioid agonist therapy has also been shown to increase retention rates, HIV and hepatitis C virus testing, mental and physical health, and improve access to some social services and health care supports (PHO, 2022; Bruneau et al., 2018; Magwood et al., 2020; Pijl, 2022). While supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment has demonstrated greater effectiveness compared to conventional opioid agonist therapy treatment, it is a second line treatment option which requires an assessment by a qualified professional to determine fit and suitability as a treatment option (PHO, 2017; BCCSU, 2022; PHO, 2022).

Common opioid agonist therapies include methadone, slow-release oral morphine (SROM), and buprenorphine/naloxone. When compared to methadone and slow-release oral morphine, the use of buprenorphine/naloxone is the preferred and recommended option of opioid agonist therapy due to its superior safety profile, longer lasting effects, potential for take-home doses, lower rates of health care visits, and lower risk to public safety (Gomes et al., 2022a; Iacono et al., 2023; Bruneau et al., 2018; Franklyn et al., 2016; BCCSU, 2017; Gomes et al., 2022b).

Mental health supports

Evidence also indicates that selected counselling and mental health services should be offered alongside various treatment methods. Morbidity and mortality rates are improved when people who use drugs also receive psychosocial and psychiatric treatment interventions. These interventions help to address the root causes of addiction (HQO, 2018; Morin et al., 2020; Bruneau et al., 2018).

Harm reduction best practices

Harm reduction refers to a suite of strategies that aim to reduce drug-related harms such as death, disease, and injury, without requiring an individual to stop drug use. Harm reduction interventions can be targeted at the individual, family, community, or societal level (CDS, 2023).

In contrast to opioid agonist therapy and residential treatment programs, a harm reduction approach does not focus on stopping drug use, but rather on minimizing the harms and risks related to drug toxicity (Health Canada, 2023a; ODPRN, 2023; PHO, 2022; Kolla et al., 2022). Often, harm reduction programs are integrated into wraparound service models, embedded within supervised consumption or drug checking services, and connected to mental health and social services (PHO, 2022).

Laws and policy-related initiatives

One of the more novel and controversial harm reduction approaches argues for the decriminalization, legalization, or dis-regulation of all controlled substances. This approach to addressing drug toxicity suggests reforming current restrictive drug policies to explore the potential of integrating low-barrier safer supply frameworks.

Safer supply is defined as "the legal and regulated supply of drugs with mind/body altering properties that traditionally have been accessible only through the illicit drug market" (CAPUD, 2019, p.4). In some cases, such as prescriber-based models of safer supply, licenced professionals can replace tainted or toxic drugs with less harmful substances. For example, this is seen in opioid programs with prescribed hydromorphone tablets (HDM) and non-opioid programs with stimulants and benzodiazepines to name a few (ODPRN, 2023; Health Canada,

2023a; PHO, 2022). Research has demonstrated that safer supply programs help decrease the rates of acute drug toxicity deaths, poisonings, hospital admissions, emergency room visits, criminal activity, infections, mental health hardships, health care costs, and the overall use of fentanyl and other illicit street substances (Health Canada, 2023a; ODPRN, 2023; Gomes et al., 2022a; PHO; 2022).

On the other hand, some studies report that there continues to be gaps in evidence on safer supply models, including information on specific factors that may impact program outcomes. Selected factors have been identified as possible risks impacting program effectiveness and adoption of services. The risks include factors such as a potential for diversion (e.g., medication sharing), unsupervised dosing (e.g., take home doses), and continued client withdrawal resulting from not adequately titrated with available medications or a restricted range of medication. Therefore, people who use drugs may return to the unregulated drug supply for preferred mind and body properties (CAPUD, 2019, p.4; BCCDC, 2018; Atkinson, 2023; Haines et al., 2022; Foreman-Mackey et al., 2022; ODPRN, 2023; Karamouzian et al., 2023; PHO, 2022).

Other risks include limited stimulant, benzodiazepine, or drug checking test strip services, public perception, location of services (rural or remote vs. urban, mobile services), insufficient external counselling, and an inequitable access to supports and tailored services for different subpopulations (e.g., Indigenous Peoples, youth and people experiencing homelessness) (BCCDC, 2018; Atkinson, 2023; Haines et al., 2022; Foreman-Mackey et al., 2022; ODPRN, 2023; Karamouzian et al., 2023).

As an emerging area of work and approach for consideration, there is a clear need to continue to evaluate and review evidence on short and long-term outcomes of existing safer supply programs to better inform adoption or implementation of the model (PHO, 2022).

Supervised consumption sites

Supervised consumption sites (SCS) are an important harm reduction strategy used across Canada. As of September 2023, 39 locations were authorized and providing a range of services. Since 2017, an estimated 340 000 unique clients have accessed supervised consumption sites, with some sites supporting roughly 400 visits each day (Health Canada, 2023d). SCS provide individuals with a clean, safe environment with enhanced access to sterile equipment under the supervision of a health care professional, a trained allied service provider, or a peer (e.g., a person who formerly used or currently uses drugs) without the risk of incarceration. These sites have connected people who use drugs with up to 239 000 referrals to treatment programs, medical care services, mental health supports, and housing (Health Canada, 2023d).

Despite supervised consumption sites having a proven track record of reducing mortality and morbidity caused by drug toxicity, burdensome requirements to demonstrate community need, federal and provincial application processes, budget constraints, temporary funding envelopes,

minimal human resources, and jurisdictional supports create significant barriers to establishing and operating these services (CCSA, 2020; Russell et al., 2020).

Drug checking services

Drug checking services is another harm reduction approach demonstrated to decrease harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (PHO, 2017; Maghsoudi et al., 2022). Whether embedded in the wraparound services within a supervised consumption site, or offered as a stand-alone program, this vital service informs people who use drugs if their current drug supply is contaminated. In addition, drug checking services can be used for issuing public health alerts and as a way of attracting people who do not regularly use harm reduction interventions (PHO, 2017; PHO, 2023).

Naloxone

Naloxone programs are an important intervention to temporarily reverse the effects of an opioid poisoning (Health Canada, 2023b; CRISM, 2019; Moustaqim-Barrette et al., 2021). Many provinces and territories have ensured that naloxone kits are provided at various sites such as pharmacies, shelters, correctional facilities, addictions centres, health care clinics, and harm reduction sites to ensure people at risk of experiencing an opioid poisoning or people at risk of witnessing an opioid poisoning, can access naloxone (Health Canada, 2023b; CRISM, 2019). Unfortunately, given the rise of polysubstance use of opioids, stimulants, or other substances causing prolonged sedative effects (e.g., benzodiazepines or xylazine), the efficacy of naloxone is reduced (CCSA & CCENDU, 2022; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023).

Outreach and wraparound services

Various outreach interventions—episodic or site-specific outreach, peer outreach, or outreach by medical or social service providers—also help to reduce the harms and risks associated with drug toxicity (PHO, 2023a). Outreach services can include needle syringe programs, drug checking services, HIV and hepatitis C testing, crisis support, and educational opportunities (PHO, 2023a). Mobile services have also been used to increase accessibility of overdose prevention services by delivering services to northern, rural, and First Nation communities (Bolinski, 2022; Atkinson, 2023; BCCDC, 2018).

When considering best practices for treatment, prevention, or harm reduction in relation to substance use and overdose prevention, interventions that work across multiple levels of the social-ecological model (SEM) are more likely to be successful (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022). Considered non-clinical supports, these wraparound services are critical to mitigating the harms and risks related to poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths in Ontario.

Given the complex and interacting nature of factors associated with opioid-related morbidity and mortality, tailored and targeted outreach interventions are required. When planning and delivering outreach interventions and wraparound services, particular consideration should be given to how societal, system-level, and individual factors interact, resulting in increased risk. See the full Environmental Scan report, *The Drug Toxicity Crisis: An environmental scan to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs,* for a fulsome discussion on this issue.

Systemic change and collective action

It is important to recognize that a range of risks factors related to substance use, such as poverty, mental illness, drug availability, harmful school environments, peer influence, housing instability, and trauma can reinforce negative health outcomes (Health Canada, 2023e). A comprehensive, population, and public health approach must therefore target the multiple levels that influence the determinants of health at the individual, interpersonal (such as family and schools), community, and societal levels. The following sections highlight important actions that can collectively contribute to systemic change.

Upstream prevention and protective factors

Focusing on opportunities to support upstream preventative measures and protective factors is crucial to delay the onset of substance use disorders, particularly during early adolescence, to ensure harms and risks are reduced (Iacono et al., 2023).

Prevention services occur on a continuum, often referred to as upstream and downstream. While downstream interventions tend to focus on individuals, upstream approaches focus on addressing the root causes of an issue through system level interventions such as policies or large-scale prevention initiatives that have the potential to impact an entire community (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022).

Examples of upstream and prevention services include:

- Using comprehensive educational approaches that help children develop resiliency and positive behaviours can help guard against risk-taking behaviours such as using alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and illegal drugs.
- Ensuring municipalities and land developers provide safe, adequate, low-cost, and lowbarrier housing for individuals and families.
- Fostering communities that support new immigrants, members of the 2SLGBTQ+ communities, Indigenous, Métis, and Inuk Peoples, and others who require supports for mental health and addictions.

Coordinated and collective community action

Substance use is a public health challenge that affects us all. Substance use is often initiated and sustained as a means of coping with unequal opportunities for health and well-being; thus, efforts to prevent an individual from initiating use and supporting others to reduce use or use safely require a coordinated approach of collective community action. This collective action will require support from community partners across all sectors, people with living and lived experience, and engagement from key stakeholders (Khorasheh et al., 2022; Leece et al., 2019).

According to a recent review by Leece and team (2019), communities planning for an effective collective response should consider:

- equity and stigma-related barriers experienced by people with lived and living experience
- processes and infrastructures that support appropriate data collection to inform evaluation and subsequent program and service adjustments
- engagement with people with lived and living experience to inform local actions

The peer-led engagement process is an important consideration that must not be overlooked. Evidence suggests that programs that are led by people with living and lived experience are more appealing to people who use drugs, particularly by those who have had negative experiences accessing traditional treatment and addiction services (Swanson, 2021; Pauly et al., 2020; Broadhead et al., 1998; Wood et al., 2003; McNeil et al., 2014; Grund et al., 1992). As a result, peer-led engagement has the potential to make programming more equitable by fostering communication, building trust, increasing knowledge, and reducing stigma (Greer et al., 2016).

Available services and supports

Locally, many community and partner agencies provide unique and coordinated services to help reduce the impacts of drug use in our community. Echoing the findings found in the literature, the following programs and services offer support across Sudbury and surrounding areas to reduce harms from toxic drug use. Please note that while this is a comprehensive list, it is possible that other, lesser-known services exist beyond those listed below.

Treatment services

Opioid agonist therapy

Various medication assisted treatment clinics are available in the Sudbury area including <u>Ontario</u> <u>Addiction Treatment Centre (OATC) Sudbury, VitaHeal Pharmacy</u>, <u>Northwood Recovery</u>, <u>trueNorth Addiction Medicine Program</u>, and <u>Recovery North</u>. Most clinics provide methadone and suboxone treatment, with 2 clinics offering additional and novel pharmacologic treatments.

Additionally, some opioid agonist therapy (OAT) clinics have established wraparound services, providing access to services ranging from hepatitis C screening and treatment, addictions counselling, traditional First Nation counsellor support, Ontario Works contact support to the provision of safe use supplies, and naloxone kits.

Residential treatment services

Residential treatment programs are limited in Greater Sudbury; however, <u>Monarch recovery</u> <u>services</u> provide numerous residential treatment services, rent subsidy, case management, dropin programs, and Indigenous aftercare programs. This includes women's treatment, aftercare, pregnancy, and parenting outreach program (PPOP) along with men's recovery home, transient home, and men's day treatment. Additionally, the Canadian Mental Health Association's residential program, <u>Healing with Hope</u>, is a managed alcohol reduction program that supports individuals who are homeless or at risk of homelessness and polysubstance use.

Health Sciences North Withdrawal Management Services (including mobile option); Addiction Medicine Consult Service (AMCS); Addictions Medicine Unit; Outpatient addictions and gambling services; Rapid Access Addiction Medicine (RAAM) clinic, and the Safe Beds Program provide additional substance use treatment services within Greater Sudbury. <u>Public Health's Sexual Health Clinic; and both Sudbury Nurse Practitioner Centre</u> and the <u>City</u> <u>of Greater Sudbury Community Paramedicine Program</u> offer low-barrier services to a variety of populations.</u>

Indigenous treatment services

According to the First Nations Health Authority, land-based treatment and healing occur when Indigenous Peoples return or reconnect to the land while utilizing supports to relearn, revitalize, and reclaim their traditional wellness practices (First Nations Health Authority, 2023). While not located within Greater Sudbury proper, there are several local Indigenous treatment services that apply Indigenous-based healing approaches for the treatment of mental health and addictions. Three examples include:

- <u>Gwekwaadziwin Miikan Youth Mental Health Addiction program</u>
- Ngwaagan Gamig Recovery Centre
- Benbowopka Treatment Centre

Harm reduction services

Agencies throughout Sudbury have developed and deliver many of the harm reduction best practices discussed above including, but not limited to, sterile needles, injection and inhalation equipment, information about safer drug use, information about safer sex, condoms and lube, community referrals to services, disposal containers for used needles and sharps, and naloxone.

In Sudbury, these organizations include, but are not limited to, <u>Public Health Sudbury &</u> <u>Districts' Needle Syringe Program: The Point, Réseau ACCESS Network, The Ontario</u> <u>Aboriginal HIV AIDS Strategy (OAHAS), The Sudbury Action Centre for Youth (SACY), The</u> <u>Go-Give Project, and Health Sciences North.</u>

Additional tailored harm reduction services to support previously identified marginalized subpopulations include <u>SACY</u>; the Ontario Aboriginal <u>HIV/AIDS Strategy</u> and <u>Shkagamik-Kwe</u> <u>Health Centre</u>, <u>Sudbury's Centre for Transitional Care</u>, and the Elizabeth Fry Society.

Supervised consumption sites

<u>The Spot</u>, currently operated by <u>Réseau ACCESS Network (Réseau</u>), is Greater Sudbury's only safe consumption site (SCS). The Spot is a safe, empathetic place, free of stigma and discrimination, where people can use their pre-obtained drugs.

<u>The Point</u>, a local needle syringe program, provides people who use drugs with some of the previously mentioned wraparound services. These services link clients with health care and harm

reduction professionals so they can access education, sterile equipment, supervised consumption services, social services, and a rapid response in the event of an overdose.

Additionally, Réseau provides onsite drug checking services at The Spot, which can significantly reduce the harms caused by the tainted drug supply. The results from drug checking services provide an opportunity to update people who use drugs on the various adulterants and substances found locally, educate them about the use of tainted drugs and the limitations of testing, and provide Public Health with data to issue drug warnings.

Education and distribution of naloxone kits

Education, training, and distribution of naloxone remains an important best practice to reduce the harms associated with acute drug toxicity. This life-saving medication can be <u>freely obtained</u> through participating Ontario pharmacies, provincial correctional facilities, and the Ontario Naloxone Program (needle exchange programs, hepatitis C programs, consumption and treatment services, and participating community-based organizations).

Outreach and wraparound services

Outreach services are designed to meet those in need where they are, rather than having people seek them out. Many outreach services, such as those provided through <u>Réseau, OAHAS, SACY</u>, and <u>The Go-Give Project</u>, use their outreach services to educate and reduce harms. Often these services are delivered on foot or by vehicle and can include harm reduction supplies (such as injection and inhalation supplies), testing services, or referrals.

Greater Sudbury's <u>Mobile Crisis Rapid Response Team (MCRRT</u>) was developed in partnership with the Greater Sudbury Police Service, Health Sciences North's Emergency Department (utilizing their crisis support workers), and Greater Sudbury Paramedic Services.

Greater Sudbury's <u>Mobile Crisis Rapid Response Team</u> responds to mental health and addictions emergencies. It provides trained crisis workers who can help de-escalate crisis situations, provide an on-site assessment, and connect individuals to community services and supports. This team provides various health services, such as health and wellness checks and mental health and addiction supports in social settings (e.g., housing, and shelters) to best meet the needs of the individuals.

<u>Community Mobilization Sudbury (CMS)</u> is a partnership working to provide comprehensive wraparound services through a collaboration of over 30 partner organizations, representing health, children's services, policing, education, mental health and addictions, housing, and municipal services. One of the organization's key programs is the <u>Rapid Mobilization Table</u> (<u>RMT</u>), which leverages the expertise of representatives from partner agencies to collaboratively identify situations that place Sudbury residents at high risk of harm. All necessary partners then

plan and participate in twice weekly meetings to coordinate responses that connect those at risk with the services and supports that can help.

Upstream prevention services

Upstream approaches, including prevention programs, are critical to reduce substance use and related harms. Acute timely services, including treatment, harm reduction, and outreach are important components of the holistic approach to reduce mortality, morbidity, and the harms from substance use and the toxic drug supply. They must, however, be offered as part of a suite of interventions that also target the social and structural determinants of drug use.

Local school boards, the health care sector, and the many organizations previously noted offer prevention programming, services, and advocacy. They work to provide education, raise awareness, strengthen policies, and build individual and community development assets to support the prevention of drug use and its impacts.

Upstream prevention programs and services lie at the core of Public Health Sudbury & Districts' (Public Health) work. While many initiatives exist, 2 examples of this work include a healthy communities approach and mental health literacy.

Healthy communities approach

Public Health implements a healthy communities approach to its local health promotion programming. Our programs and services support individuals and families across the life stage on a variety of topics of public health concern. We also work in partnership with community partners to target structural-level determinants locally and on a broader scope to have an impact on the health and well-being of individuals and families.

Mental health literacy and education

Increasing mental health literacy is about more than providing people with information; it is about developing skills and empowering individuals with information so they can promote mental health and make informed decisions (Canadian Alliance on Mental Health and Mental Illness, 2008).

Public Health actively weaves mental health literacy throughout our programs and services as part of our mental health promotion work. We use anti-stigma and trauma-informed approaches, focusing on the importance of respectful language to build trust and foster strength-based resilience and a growth mindset.

A growing demand and gaps in services

While harm reduction and local treatment services are available in Greater Sudbury, there remain unmet needs that directly support people who use drugs. These include greater access and availability to services and supports, such as harm reduction supplies and naloxone kits and training opportunities, and increased funding to expand supervised consumption sites and provide residential treatment programs. The increase in polysubstance use, in particular the mixing of opioids and stimulants, also complicates all response efforts, most notably, appropriate health care responses. While the use of telemedicine expanded greatly during the early years of the COVID-19 pandemic, barriers remain for those living in rural and northern communities (Pijl, 2022; Wendt et al., 2021; MHCC, 2021; Morin et al., 2020).

Providing appropriate prevention and wraparound services is also a challenge. Individuals living in northern and rural areas experience disproportionate barriers to accessing mental health programs and services compared to those living in southern Ontario (Leary et al., 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019). A shortage of trained professionals (including crisis workers, counsellors, psychologists, and psychiatrists), long wait-times (often exceeding a year to access services), lack of 24-hour crisis services, and fragmented and disconnected mental health and addictions services significantly reduce successful treatment outcomes (Livingston, 2020; Leary et al., 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019; HQO, 2018; Taha, 2018).

Since the pandemic, the landscape of drug use has also changed with increased practices of inhalation. Traditional approaches that supported individuals who consume or inject substances do not meet the needs of those who inhale substances. Additional, immediate, and tailored services to reduce negative outcomes associated with non-injection drug routes are needed (Giliauskas, 2022; Ali et al., 2023; PHO, 2023). In response, some supervised consumption sites have enhanced accessibility by implementing smoking sites within their model. Authorization and sanctioning of smoking substances, however, requires additional exemptions from Health Canada and modifications to the physical site, resulting in additional barriers for people who use drugs (Giliauskas, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2023).

Current services and programs in Northern Ontario communities are struggling to keep up with demand. The complex needs of individuals with substance use disorders, who are also living with a mental health condition and/or housing instability, further complicates the response (ODPRN & PHO, 2023; Gomes et al., 2021). Greater Sudbury lacks available and affordable housing and equitable and timely access to culturally appropriate and high-quality health care services for vulnerable and equity-seeking populations. These challenges are further exacerbated by the self-stigma commonly experienced by people who use drugs and the social and structural stigma and discrimination they face through local programs and services.

Developing approaches to address current gaps in local service provisions is critical. This includes tailored services for youth, women, people with a history of incarceration, construction and trades workers, racialized groups, people who use substances recreationally, people who use stimulants and benzodiazepines, people who inhale substances, and people with concurrent disorders (Iacono et al., 2023, Gomes et al., 2021, Leece et al., 2019; BCCDC, 2017; Giliauskas et al., 2022; Thumath et al., 2021; Speed et al., 2020; Lavalley et al., 2018). Without access to adequate wraparound services including treatment, harm reduction, counselling, and social support services (such as food and shelter), we will continue to lose family, friends, and community members to the toxic drug poisoning crisis.

Conclusion

Despite our collective best efforts to address the current crisis, rates of drug toxicity and mortality remain concerning locally, provincially, and nationally. Demographic, societal, and structural factors contributing to illicit drug use and the toxic drug supply must be examined with a local lens to address systemic root causes that contribute to local drug toxicity.

Best practices proven to reduce harms and risks from toxic drug use are multi-pronged and should consider treatment programs such as opioid agonist therapy and harm reduction models. Supervised consumption sites and naloxone programs, non-clinical wraparound services and supports, and upstream prevention approaches must leverage individual and community strengths.

As this is an evolving issue both locally and globally, it will be important to continue to monitor, review, and share evidence of all types as it becomes available. Only by learning and working together can we identify local pressures, determine the applicability of best practices, and implement short- and long-term solutions in response to the unique challenges Northern Ontario faces in this escalating toxic drug crisis.

References

Ali, F., Russell, C., Kaura, A., Pfeil, R., Leslie, P., Hopkins, S., Buckley, L., & Wells, S. (2023). Preliminary Assessment of Sudbury Ontario's First Supervised Consumption Service ('The Spot'): Final Report.

Alsabbagh, M.W., Cooke, M., Elliott, S.J., Chang, F., Shah, N., & Ghobrial, M. (2022). Stepping up to the Canadian opioid crisis: a longitudinal analysis of the correlation between socioeconomic status and population rates of opioid-related mortality, hospitalization and emergency department visits (2000–2017). *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, *42*(6), 229-237. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.42.6.01

Atkinson, K. (2023, March). Parkdale Queen West Community Health Centre Safer Opioid Supply Program Evaluation Report. <u>https://pqwchc.org/programs-services/harm-reduction/safer-opioid-supply-sos-program/</u>

Austin, T., Lavalley, J., Parusel, S. et al. (2023). Women who use drugs: engagement in practices of harm reduction care. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 20(49). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00775-0</u>

Bolinski, R.S., Walters, S., Salisbury-Afshar, E., Ouellet, L.J., Jenkins, W.D., Almirol, E., Van Ham, B., Fletcher, S., Johnson, C., Schneider, J.A., Ompad, D., & Pho, M.T. (2022). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Drug Use Behaviors, Fentanyl Exposure, and Harm Reduction Service Support among People Who Use Drugs in Rural Settings. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19*(4), 2230. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19042230. PMID: 35206421; PMCID: PMC8872091.

Boyd, S., & Norton, A. (2019). Addiction and Heroin-Assisted Treatment: Legal Discourse and Drug Reform. *Contemporary Drug Problems*, *46(3)*, *265–281*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091450919856635

Bragazzi, N.L., Beamish, D., Kong, J.D., & Wu, J. (2021). Illicit drug use in Canada and implications for suicidal behaviors, and household food insecurity: Findings from a large, nationally representative survey. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6425.

Brinkley-Rubinstein, L., Macmadu, A., Marshall, B.D.L., Heise, A., Ranapurwala S.I., Rich J.D., Green T.C. Risk of fentanyl-involved overdose among those with past year incarceration: findings from a recent outbreak in 2014 and 2015. *Drug Alcohol Dependent*. 2018;185:189–191.

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use and B.C. Ministry of Health. (2017, June 5). A Guideline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder. <u>http://www.bccsu.ca/care-guidance-publications/</u>

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. (2022). Opioid use disorder: practice update. <u>https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Opioid-Use-Disorder-Practice-Update-February-2022.pdf</u>

British Columbia Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. (2020). BC Government News Release. New public health order to help slow B.C.'s overdose crisis. https://archive.news.gov.bc.ca/releases/news_releases_2017-2021/2020MMHA0051-001754.htm.

British Columbia Overdose Action Exchange II. (August 2017). BC Centre for Disease Control. http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/bccdc-overdose-action-screen.pdf

British Columbia Overdose Action Exchange. (October 2018). <u>http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/Educational%20Materials/Epid/Other/ODAX_meetingreport_2018.pdf</u>

Broadhead RS., Heckathorn DD., Weakliem DL., Anthony DL., Madray H., Mills RJ., Hughes J. (1998). Harnessing peer networks as an instrument for AIDS prevention: results from a peerdriven intervention. *Public Health Rep.* (Suppl 1):42-57. PMID: 9722809; PMCID: PMC1307726.

Butler, A., Croxford, R., Bodkin, C., Akbari, H., Bayoumi, A.M., Bondy, S.J., Guenter, D., McLeod, K.E., Gomes, T., Kanagalingam, T., Kiefer, L.A., Orkin, A.M., Owusu-Bempah, A., Regenstreif, L., & Kouyoumdjian, F. (2023). Burden of opioid toxicity death in the fentanyl-dominant era for people who experience incarceration in Ontario, Canada, 2015-2020: a whole population retrospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal Open, 13*(5), e071867. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-071867. PMID: 37164452; PMCID: PMC10186413.

Canadian Alliance on Mental Health and Mental Illness. (2008). National Integrated Framework for Enhancing Mental Health Literacy in Canada.

https://mdsc.ca/documents/Publications/CAMIMH%20National%20Integrated%20Framework% 20for%20Mental%20Health%20Literacy.pdf

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction (2018). Decriminalization: Options and Evidence [Policy Brief]. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/decriminalization-options-and-evidence-policy-brief</u>

Canadian Federation of Medical Students. (2022, April). The Overdose Crisis CFMS Position Paper. https://www.cfms.org/what-we-do/advocacy/position-papers. https://www.cfms.org/files/position-papers/SGM_2022_Overdose%20Crisis.pdf Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. (2020). Gendering the scene: women, gender-diverse people, and harm reduction in Canada - full report [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. <u>http://www.aidslaw.ca/site/gendering-the-scene-women-gender-diverse-people-and-harm-reduction-in-canada-full-report/?lang=en</u>

Center for Disease Control. (2022b, September). High-Risk Substance Use Among Youth. Adolescent and School Health. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/substance-use/index.htm#:~:text=Risk%20Factors%20for%20High%2DRisk%20Substance%20Use&text=Poor%20parental%20monitoring,delinquent%20or%20substance%20using%20peers</u>

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2021a, May). Opioid Agonist Therapy: A Synthesis of Canadian Guidelines for Treating Opioid Use Disorder. <u>www.camh.ca</u>

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (September 29, 2021b). Statement on the decriminalization of substance use. <u>https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdfs---public-policy-submissions/camh-statement-on-decriminalization-sep2021-pdf.pdf</u>

Chiefs of Ontario and Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. (2021). Opioid Use, Related Harms, and Access to Treatment among First Nations in Ontario, 2013-2019. Toronto, ON: Chiefs of Ontario. <u>https://odprn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/First-Nations-Opioid-Use-Harms-and-Treatment-Report.pdf</u>

Cicci, K., Mongeon, A., Bennett, J., & Bradshaw, A., (2023). White Paper on the Value of Local Health Promotion in Ontario. Health Promotion Ontario.

https://www.healthpromotioncanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/2HPO-Value-of-Local-Health-Promotion-White-Paper.pdf

City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services. (October 25, 2023). *Community Drug Strategy Opioid Reporting Tool* [unpublished]. City of Greater Sudbury.

Community Drug Strategy. (2023, August 30). Harm Reduction. Public Health Sudbury & Districts. <u>Public Health Sudbury & Districts - Harm Reduction (phsd.ca)</u>

Coroners Services of British Columbia. (2018). Illicit Drug Overdose Deaths in BC: Findings of Coroners' Investigations. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/illicitdrugoverdosedeathsinbc-findingsofcoronersinvestigations-final.pdf</u>

Eibl, J., Morin, K., Leinonen, E., & Marsh, D. (2017). The state of opioid agonist therapy in Canada 20 years after federal oversight. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *62*(7), 444–450

Environmental Scan: Naloxone Access and Distribution in Canada. (2019). Vancouver: Canadian Research Initiative on Substance Misuse (CRISM).

https://open.library.ubc.ca/soa/cIRcle/collections/facultyresearchandpublications/52383/items/1.0379400

Farnan, P., McPherson, C., Moniruzzaman, A., Rezansoff, S.N., Sobey, P., Somers, J.M. (2023). Construction Safety and Substance Use: Blueprint for Action in BC. Simon Fraser University, Vancouver, BC.

https://www.bccsa.ca/_customelements/uploadedResources/DraftFinalProjectReportMar62023.p df

Fischer, B., & Keates, A. (2012). "Opioid Drought", Canadian-style? Potential implications of the "natural experiment" of delisting Oxycontin in Canada. *The International Journal of Drug Policy*, 23(6), 495–497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2012.07.008</u>

Franklyn, M.A.E., Lightfoot, J.K., Marsh, N.E., Geography, D.C. (2016). Treatment Modality, and Substance Use: Evaluating Factors That Impact Opioid Agonist Therapy in Northern Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Addiction Medicine and Therapy*.

Friesen EL., Friesen, E.L., Kurdyak PA., Kurdyak, P.A., Gomes T., Gomes, T., et al., (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on opioid-related harm in Ontario. Science Briefs of the Ontario COVID-19 Science Advisory Table. 2021;2(42). https://doi.org/10.47326/ocsat.2021.02.42.1.0

Gan, W., Slaunwhite, A., Kinner, S., et al. (2019). Demographic factors, incarceration history and risk of overdose-related death (knowledge update). Vancouver, BC: BC Centre for Disease Control.<u>http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Statistics%20and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20Reports/Overdose/20191104_BCCDC%20Knowledge%20Update_Incarceration %20History%20and%20Demographics%20among%20people%20who%20overdose.pdf</u>

Gan, W.Q., Kinner, S.A., Nicholls, T.L., Xavier, C.G., Urbanoski, K., Greiner, L., Buxton, J.A., Martin, R.E., McLeod, K.E., Samji, H., Nolan, S., Meilleur, L., Desai, R., Sabeti, S., Slaunwhite, A.K. (2021). Risk of overdose-related death for people with a history of incarceration. *Addiction*, *116*(6), 1460-1471. doi: 10.1111/add.15293. Epub 2020 Nov 27. PMID: 33047844.

Giliauskas, D., & Gogolishvili, D. (2022). A review of supervised inhalation services in Canada. Toronto, ON: Ontario HIV Treatment Network. <u>https://www.ohtn.on.ca/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2022/07/RR171</u> supervised-inhalation July212022.pdf

Gomes, T., Kolla, G., McCormack, D., Sereda, A., Kitchen, S., & Antoniou, T. (2022a). Clinical outcomes and health care costs among people entering a safer opioid supply program in Ontario. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 194*(36), E1233-E1242. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.220892. PMID: 36122919; PMCID: PMC9484622.

Gomes, T., Leece, P., Iacono, A., Yang, J., Kolla, G., Cheng, C., Ledlie, S., Bouck, Z., Boyd, R., Bozinoff, N., Campbell, T., Doucette, T., Franklyn, M., Newcombe, P., Pinkerton, S., Schneider, E., Shearer, D., Singh, S., Smoke, A., & Wu, F. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2023). Characteristics of substance-related toxicity deaths in Ontario: Stimulant, opioid, benzodiazepine, and alcohol-related deaths. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Gomes, T., McCormack, D., Bozinoff, N., Tadrous, M., Antoniou, T., Munro, C., Campbell, T., Paterson, M., Mamdani, M., & Sproule, B. (2022b). Duration of use and outcomes among people with opioid use disorder initiating methadone and buprenorphine in Ontario: A population-based propensity-score matched cohort study. *Addiction*.

Gomes, T., Murray, R., Kolla, G., Leece, P., Bansal, S., Besharah, J., Cahill, T., Campbell, T., Fritz, A., Munro, C., Toner, L., & Watford, J. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2021). Changing circumstances surrounding opioid-related deaths in Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Greer, A.M., Luchenski, S.A., Amlani, A.A. (2016). Peer engagement in harm reduction strategies and services: a critical case study and evaluation framework from British Columbia, Canada. *BMC Public Health 16, 452*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3136-4

Groot, E., Kouyoumdjian, F.G., Kiefer, L., Madadi, P., Gross, J., Prevost, B., et al. (2016). Drug toxicity deaths after release from incarceration in Ontario, 2006-2013: review of coroner's cases. *PLoS One*, *11*(7), e0157512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157512</u>

Grund, J., Blanken, P., Adriaans N., Kaplan C., Barendregt C., Mart M. (1992). Reaching the Unreached: Targeting Hidden IDU Populations with Clean Needles via Known User Groups. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 24:1, 41-47, DOI:

Health Canada. (July 28, 2023b). Government of Canada. Naloxone. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/opioids/naloxone.html

Health Canada. (2020, September 30). Government of Canada. Exemptions for practitioners and pharmacists prescribing and providing controlled substances, and for patients, during the coronavirus pandemic. Aem. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/health-concerns/controlled-substances-precursor-chemicals/policy-regulations/policy-documents/section-56-1-class-exemption-patients-pharmacists-practitioners-controlled-substances-covid-19-pandemic.html

Health Canada. (February 08, 2023d). Government of Canda. Supervised consumption explained: types of sites and services – Canada.ca. <u>Supervised consumption explained: types of sites and services - Canada.ca</u>

Health Canada. (March 25, 2023a). Government of Canada. Prescribed medications as a safer alternative to toxic illegal drugs - Canada.ca. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u>canada/services/opioids/responding-canada-opioid-crisis/safer-supply.html#a1

Health Canada. (October 10, 2023e). Government of Canada. Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy: Prevention and education. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/canadian-drugs-substances-strategy/prevention-education.html</u>

Health Canada. (October 10, 2023e). Government of Canada. Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy: Prevention and education. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/canadian-drugs-substances-strategy/prevention-education.html</u>

Health Canada. (September 20, 2023f). Government of Canada. Men in trades and substance use. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/campaigns/men-construction-trades-overdose-crisis-canada/men-trades-substance-use.html

Health Quality Ontario. (2018). Northern Ontario health equity strategy: a plan for achieving health equity in the North, by the North, for the North. Toronto, ON: Health Quality Ontario.

Henry, B. (2019). Special Report: Stopping the Harm Decriminalization of People who Use Drugs in BC. Office of the Provincial Health Officer. <u>Stopping the Harm: Decriminalization of People who use Drugs in BC | SURE (substanceuse.ca)</u>

Iacono, A., Kolla, G., Yang, J., Leece, P., Moumita, T., Wu, F., Cheng, C., Campbell, T., Antoniou, T., Juurlink, D., Sheikh, H., Emblem, J., Kurdyak, P., Bertrand, J., Shearer, D., Singh, S., Gomes, T., on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2023). Opioid toxicity and access to treatment among adolescents and young adults in Ontario. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Jalali, M. S., Botticelli, M., Hwang, R. C., Koh, H. K., & McHugh, R. K. (2020). The opioid crisis: A contextual, social-ecological framework. Health Research Policy and Systems, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00596-8

Karamouzian M., Rafat B., Kolla G., Urbanoski K., Atkinson K., Bardwell G., Bonn M., Touesnard N., Henderson N., Bowles J., Boyd J., Brunelle C., Eeuwes J., Fikowski J., Gomes T., Guta A., Hyshka E., Ivsins A., Kennedy MC., Laurence G., Martignetti L., Nafeh F., Salters K., Tu D., Strike C., Pauly B., Werb D. 2023. Challenges of implementing safer supply programs in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative analysis. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. Oct;120:104157. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2023.104157. Epub 2023 Aug 11. PMID: 37574645.

Khorasheh, T., AbuAyyash, C.B., Mallakin, M. et al. (2022). Supporting community overdose response planning in Ontario, Canada: Findings from a situational assessment. *BMC Public Health*, *22*, 1390. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13762-0

Kinner, S.A., Gan, W., Slaunwhite, A. (2021). Fatal overdoses after release from prison in British Columbia: a retrospective data linkage study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *9*(3), E907-E914. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20200243. PMID: 34584005; PMCID: PMC8486467.

Kolla, G., Touesnard, N., Gomes, T. (2022). Addressing the overdose crisis in North America with boldaction. *Addiction*, *117*,1194–1196. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.158441196

Konefal, S., Sherk, A., Maloney-Hall, B., Young, M., Kent, P., & Biggar, E. (2022). Polysubstance use poisoning deaths in Canada: an analysis of trends from 2014 to 2017 using mortality data. *BMC Public Health*, *22*(1), 269.

Lavalley, J., Kastor, S., Tourangeau, M. et al. (2020). You just have to have other models, our DNA is different: the experiences of indigenous people who use illicit drugs and/or alcohol accessing substance use treatment. *Harm Reduction Journal, 17*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-020-00366-3

Lavalley, J., Kastor, S., Valleriani, J., & McNeil, R. (2018). Reconciliation and Canada's overdose crisis: Responding to the needs of Indigenous Peoples. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 190(50). <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181093</u>

Leary, T., Aubin, N., Marsh, D.C. (2023). Building an inpatient addiction medicine consult service in Sudbury, Canada: preliminary data and lessons learned in the era of COVID-19. *Substance Abuse Treat Prevention Policy 18, 29*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-023-00537-y

Leece, P., Khorasheh, T., Paul, N., et al. (2019). 'Communities are attempting to tackle the crisis': a scoping review on community plans to prevent and reduce opioid-related harms. *BMJ Open, 9*, e028583. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028583

Livingston, J. D. (2020). Structural stigma in health-care contexts for people with mental health and substance use issues: A literature review. Ottawa: Mental Health Commission of Canada.

Maar, M., Ominika, T., & Manitowabi, D. (2022). Community-led recovery from the opioid crisis through culturally-based programs and community-based data governance. *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*, *13*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2022.13.2.13792</u>

MacKay, R. (2018, Winter). The Beginning of Drug Prohibition in Canada: What's Past Is Prologue. *Queen's Quarterly, 125, 530-539*.

https://login.librweb.laurentian.ca/login?url=https://www-proquestcom.librweb.laurentian.ca/magazines/beginning-drug-prohibition-canada-whats-pastis/docview/2154032662/se-2

Maghsoudi, N., Tanguay, J., Scarfone, K., Rammohan, I., Ziegler, C., Werb, D., Scheim, A.I. (2022). Drug checking services for people who use drugs: a systematic review. *Addiction*, *117*(3), 532-544. doi: 10.1111/add.15734. Epub 2021 Dec 12. PMID: 34729849; PMCID:

Magwood, O., Salvalaggio, G., Beder, M., Kendall, C., Kpade, V., Daghmach, W., et al. (2020). The effectiveness of substance use interventions for homeless and vulnerably housed persons: a systematic review of systematic reviews on supervised consumption facilities, managed alcohol

programs, and pharmacological agents for opioid use disorder. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(1):e0227298. https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227298

Marsh, T.N., Eshakakogan, C., Eibl, J.K., Spence, M., Morin, K.A., Goertzen, A., Gauthier, G.J., Gauthier-Frolick, D., Tahsin, F., Sayers, C.D., Ozawanimke, C.A., Bissaillion, C.B., Nootchtai, C.C., & Marsh, D.C. (2022). Implementation and evaluation of a two-eyed seeing approach using traditional healing and seeking safety in an indigenous residential treatment program in Northern Ontario. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *81*(1), 2125172. doi: 10.1080/22423982.2022.2125172. PMID: 36149060; PMCID: PMC9518291.

Marsh, T.N., Marsh, D.C., Ozawagosh, J., & Ozawagosh, F. (2018). The sweat lodge ceremony: a healing intervention for intergenerational trauma and substance use. *International Indigenous Policy Journal*, *9*(2).

Mashford-Pringle, A. & Shawanda, A. (2023). Using the Medicine Wheel as theory, conceptual framework, analysis, and evaluation tool in health research. *Elsevier. SSM. Qualitative Research in Health, 3*, 100251. 10.1016/j.ssmqr.2023.100251

McNeil R., Small W., Lampkin H., Shannon K., Kerr T. (2014). People knew they could come here to get help: an ethnographic study of assisted injection practices at a peer-run 'unsanctioned' supervised drug consumption room in a Canadian setting. AIDS Behavioral. Mar; 18(3):473-85. doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0540-y. PMID: 23797831; PMCID: PMC3815969.

Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on rural and remote mental health and substance use. Ottawa, Canada.

Milaney, K., Passi, J., Zaretsky, L., Liu, T., O'Gorman, C.M., Hill, L., & Dutton, D. (2021). Drug use, homelessness and health: responding to the opioid overdose crisis with housing and harm reduction services. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *18*(1), 92. doi: 10.1186/s12954-021-00539-8. PMID: 34446034; PMCID: PMC8394031.

Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. (2021). Access to prescribed safer supply in British Columbia: Policy direction. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/overdose-awareness/prescribed_safer_supply_in_bc.pdf</u>

Minnesota Department of Health. (2023). *Social Determinants of Substance Use & Overdose Prevention*. For a Healthy Minnesota. <u>Social Determinants of Substance Use andamp; Overdose</u> <u>Prevention - MN Dept. of Health (state.mn.us)</u>

Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D. (2023, Feb. 28). [Letter about increase in xylazine and benzodiazepine in the unregulated drug supply.] Toronto, Ont: Office of Chief Medical Officer of Health and Office of Chief Coroner. <u>https://www.ottawapublichealth.ca/en/resources/CMOH-and-Chief-Coroner-Memo-Drug-Supply_February-28-2023-002.pdf</u>

Morin, K. A., Eibl, J. K., Gauthier, G. et al. (2020). A cohort study evaluating the association between concurrent mental disorders, mortality, morbidity, and continuous treatment retention for patients in opioid agonist treatment (OAT) across Ontario, Canada, using administrative health data. *Harm Reduction Journal, 17*, 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-020-00396-x</u>

Morin K.A., Acharya S., Eibl JK., Marsh DC. (2021). Evidence of increased Fentanyl use during the COVID-19 pandemic among opioid agonist treatment patients in Ontario, Canada. International Journal Drug Policy. 2021 Apr; 90:103088. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo. 2020.103088. Epub 2020 Dec 23. PMID: 33385974; PMCID: PMC7834895.

Moustaqim-Barrette, A., Dhillon, D., Ng, J., Sundvick, K., Ali, F., Elton-Marshall, T., Leece, P., Rittenbach, K., Ferguson, M., & Buxton, J.A. (2021). Take-home naloxone programs for suspected opioid overdose in community settings: a scoping umbrella review. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 597. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10497-2. PMID: 33771150; PMCID: PMC8004425.

Murphy, Y., Ali, F., Fischer, B. (2018). Health and service access challenges for correctional offenders with mental health and substance use problems in transition from incarceration to community: A literature review. (Research Report R-398). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada.

Nairn, S.A., Audet, M., Stewart, S.H., Hawke, L.D., Isaacs, J.Y., Henderson, J., Saah, R., Knight, R., Fast, D., Khan, F., Lam, A., & Conrod P. (2022). Interventions to Reduce Opioid Use in Youth At-Risk and in Treatment for Substance Use Disorders: A Scoping Review. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*,67(12), 881-898. doi: 10.1177/07067437221089810. Epub 2022 May 9. PMID: 35535396; PMCID: PMC9659799.

Northern Policy Institute. (2022). More than Just a number: Addressing the Homelessness, Addiction and Mental Health Crisis in the North. <u>https://www.northernpolicy.ca/more-than-just-a-number</u>

Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario. (October 13, 2023). *Monthly Update, Suspected drug-related & opioid-related deaths by PHU* [unpublished].

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (October 20, 2023a). *Interactive Opioid Tool*. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-</u>analysis/substance-use/interactive-opioid-tool

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (August 25, 2023b). Quarterly Public Health Unit Opioid-related Death Reports [unpublished].

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2022). Rapid review: harm reduction and treatment models for women and gender-diverse persons who use opioids. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2020). Rapid review: substance use-related harms and risk factors during periods of disruption. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario); Community Opioid/ Overdose Capacity Building (COM-CAP). Harm reduction services for anyone who smokes or inhales drugs. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario; 2023.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), & Leece, P., Tenenbaum, M. (2017). Evidence brief: effectiveness of supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment (siOAT) for opioid use disorder. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/E/2017/eb-effectiveness-sioat.pdf</u>

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2023a). At a glance: outreach programs for people who use drugs. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario.

Opioid Management Guidelines for the Construction Trades – Healthier Workforce Center of the Midwest. (2022). <u>https://hwc.public-health.uiowa.edu/opioid-management-guidelines-for-the-construction-trades/</u>

Owusu-Bempah, A., & Luscombe, A. (2021). Race, cannabis and the Canadian war on drugs: An examination of cannabis arrest data by race in five cities. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *91*, 102937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102937</u>

Pauly, B., Hasselback, P., & Reist, D. (2017). Public health guide to developing a community overdose response plan [Internet]. British Columbia Centre for Addictions Research of British Columbia.

Payer, D.E., Young, M.M., Maloney-Hall, B., Mill, C., Leclerc, P., Buxton, J., the Canadian Community Epidemiology Network on Drug Use, & the National Drug Checking Working Group. (2020). Adulterants, contaminants and co-occurring substances in drugs on the illegal market in Canada: An analysis of data from drug seizures, drug checking and urine toxicology. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction.

Pijl, E.M., Alraja, A., Duff, E. et al. (2022). Barriers and facilitators to opioid agonist therapy in rural and remote communities in Canada: an integrative review. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 17*, 62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-022-00463-5</u>

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023, June). Federal, provincial, and territorial Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses. Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada. <u>https://healthinfobase.canada.ca/substance-related-harms/opioids-stimulants/</u> Réseau ACCESS Network. Harm Reduction Position Statement.

https://reseauaccessnetwork.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/HR-Position-Statement_Digital-1.pdf

Russell, C., Neufeld, M., Sabioni, P., Varatharajan, T., Ali, F., Miles, S., Henderson, J., Fischer, B., & Rehm J. (2019). Assessing service and treatment needs and barriers of youth who use illicit and non-medical prescription drugs in Northern Ontario, Canada. *PLoS One, 14*(12), e0225548. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225548. PMID: 31805082; PMCID: PMC6894813.

Sansone, G., Fallon, B., Vandermorris, A., Swardh, K., & Blackstock, C. (2022). Effectiveness of Interventions for the Prevention and Treatment of Substance Use Disorders among First Nations, Métis and Inuit Populations. Toronto, Ontario: Policy Bench, Fraser Mustard Institute of Human Development, University of Toronto.

Sapoznikow, A. J. (2022). "There's no one-size-fits-all solution for opioid use:" a situational analysis exploring opioid use and the Opioid Crisis (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/115265

Speed, K.A., Gehring, N.D., Launier, K., O'Brien, D., Campbell, S., & Hyshka, E. (2020). To what extent do supervised drug consumption services incorporate non-injection routes of administration? A systematic scoping review documenting existing facilities. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *17*(1), 1–17.

Statistics Canada. Table 3: employment and social assistance characteristics of people who overdosed in British Columbia, Canada, January 1, 2014, through to December 31, 2016 [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2021 [modified 2021 Feb 17]. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2021002/article/00003/tbl/tbl03-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. 2023. (table). Census Profile. 2021 Census of Population. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-X2021001. Ottawa. Released November 15, 2023. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E

Statistics Canada. (2022). Table 13-10-0113-01 Health characteristics, two-year period estimates. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1310011301-eng</u>

The Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. (2023). Safer opioid supply: A rapid review of the evidence. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. <u>https://odprn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Safer-Opioid-Supply-Rapid-Review.pdf</u>

Thumath, M., Humphreys, D., Barlow, J., Duff, P., Braschel, M., Bingham, B., Pierre, S., & Shannon, K. (2021). Overdose among mothers: The association between child removal and unintentional drug overdose in a longitudinal cohort of marginalised women in Canada. *International Journal on Drug Policy*, *91*, 102977. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102977. Epub 2020 Oct 29. PMID: 33129662; PMCID: PMC8081759.

van Draanen, J., Tsang, C., Mitra, S., Karamouzian, M., & Richardson, L. (2020). Socioeconomic marginalization and opioid-related overdose: A systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *214*, 108127.

Vancouver Island Construction, A. (2023). "The Tailgate Toolkit." The Tailgate Toolkit.https://thetailgatetoolkit.ca/

Wendt, D.C., Marsan, S., Parker, D., Lizzy, K.E., Roper, J., Mushquash, C., Venner, K.L., Lam, A., Swansburg, J., Worth, N., Sorlagas, N., Quach, T., Manoukian, K., Bernett, P., & Radin, S. M. (2021). Commentary on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on opioid use disorder treatment among Indigenous communities in the United States and Canada. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *121*,108165.

Wood, E., Kerr, T., & Spittal, P.M. (2003). An external evaluation of a peer-run "Unsanctioned" syringe exchange program. *J Urban Health 80, 455–464*.